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 Defendants HAS Capital, LLC (HAS Capital), Stephen Wheeler (Wheeler), Eric R. 

Decator (Decator), and Eric Decator LLC (Decator LLC), referred to herein collectively as 

“Defendants,” respectfully submit this memorandum in support of their Rule 12(b)(6) motion to 

dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint is a classic case of disappointment run amok.  Seeking to profit 

from real estate that HAS Capital could potentially buy in the future, plaintiffs ChrisKen Group, 

LLC, and CK Property Management, LLC (Plaintiffs) say they agreed to help HAS Capital in 

identifying and acquiring multi-million dollar rental properties. As a part of the alleged deal, 

Plaintiffs agreed that they would be paid if, and only when, a property they helped HAS Capital 

obtain was actually bought and acquired by HAS Capital. Plaintiffs took the risk, however, that 

HAS Capital would not buy any properties Plaintiffs identified and, as a result, no compensation 

would be due or paid for work Plaintiffs did on any real estate opportunity they identified. This is 

exactly what Plaintiffs allege happened here. Yet, instead of honoring their end of the alleged 

agreement, Plaintiffs are trying to get money for deals that were never consummated for property 

that HAS Capital never had any obligation to buy.   

Plaintiffs have thrown out just about every imaginable claim in their Complaint.  In 

particular, Plaintiffs have asserted twelve separate counts against Defendants, ranging from a 

claim that Defendants allegedly participated in activity that violated the Racketeering Influenced 

and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et. seq., to state law claims based on 

misrepresentation, breach of contract and quantum meruit.  As will be shown below, none of 

Plaintiffs’ counts sets forth a valid claim and the Complaint should be dismissed.1 

                                                 
1 Defendants BMO Harris Bank National Association and Konstantino Apostolou (hereinafter the “BMO 
Harris Defendants”) have filed a separate motion to dismiss that is incorporated by reference herein. 
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II. PLAINTIFFS’ ALLEGATIONS2 

A. The Parties 

Plaintiffs are in the business of identifying, managing and assisting third-parties in 

acquiring residential rental properties.  (Ex. 1, ¶¶ 2-5.) HAS Capital, and its Chairman Wheeler, 

are in the business of investing in real estate. (Id. ¶¶ 9-10.)  Decator, through his law firm, 

Decator LLC, is general counsel to HAS Capital. (Id. ¶¶ 11, 13.) 

B. The Alleged Business Relationship Between the Parties 

On March 5, 2012, HAS Capital requested that Plaintiffs function as HAS Capital’s 

“operating partners” for the acquisition of “multi-million dollar real estate acquisitions of 300 

units or more, ranging in price from $30,000,000 to $100,000,000.”  (Id. ¶ 33.) In late March 

2015, HAS Capital directed Plaintiffs to begin “underwriting and negotiating” property 

acquisitions for the benefit of HAS Capital.  (Id. ¶¶ 37-38.)  In “the second quarter of 2015,” 

HAS Capital and Wheeler represented to Plaintiffs that HAS Capital had secured a sovereign 

wealth fund as its investor—an entity that Plaintiffs identified as “the Sovereign Fund.”  (Id. ¶¶ 

39, 40-42.)  According to Plaintiffs, HAS Capital and Wheeler told Plaintiffs that the identity of 

the “Sovereign Fund” was confidential between HAS Capital and Plaintiffs, that it was a Middle-

East, state-owned sovereign fund from Qatar, and that the “Sovereign Fund” had “unlimited 

dollars to invest” to be used at HAS Capital’s discretion, to make “real estate acquisitions” with 

Plaintiffs.  (Id. ¶¶ 39-40, 42, 44.) In April 2015, HAS Capital and Plaintiffs executed an 

Operating Partnership and Management Agreement (“the Agreement”) with the “objective of 

acquiring multifamily properties.”  (Id. ¶¶ 45-46 & Ex. A.)  The Agreement included an “Exhibit 

A” stating that compensation would be determined on a “property-by-property” basis.  (Id.)  

                                                 
2 The allegations of the Complaint are taken as true solely for purposes of this motion to dismiss. See 
Hernandez v. City of Goshen, 324 F.3d 535, 537 (7th Cir. 2003).  Defendants reserve the right to deny 
any all such allegations at any appropriate time. 
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C. The Alleged Real Estate Deals 

Plaintiffs allege that, between June and July 2015, they sent Letters of Intent to purchase 

three properties on behalf of HAS Capital.  (Id. ¶¶ 49, 81, 108.)  The properties are identified in 

the Complaint as the Balmoral Property, the Cypress Point Property and the St. Andrews 

Property.  (Id.)  The seller of each of the three properties sent a written “buyer-questionnaire” to 

Plaintiffs and HAS Capital, and each of the sellers also conducted a “qualifying telephone 

conference” with Plaintiffs and Defendants “seeking information about Plaintiffs and HAS 

Capital.”  (Id. ¶¶ 51-53, 61, 83-85, 88, 110-12, 119.)  Plaintiffs allege that during each 

“qualifying telephone conference,” Defendants and the BMO Harris Bank Defendants 

purportedly represented that BMO Harris possessed, on HAS Capital’s behalf, “liquid and 

drawable funds” necessary to close each of the real estate deals.  (Id. ¶ 62-63, 89-90, 120-121.)   

During this negotiation process, Plaintiffs sent written “best and final” cash offers for the 

three properties in the following amounts: the Balmoral Property ($44,000,000), the Cypress 

Point Property ($48,500,000), and the St. Andrews Property ($38,200,000).  (Id. ¶¶ 54, 95, 122). 

Thereafter, HAS Capital was accepted as the buyer for the Balmoral Property and the Cypress 

Point Property. (Id. ¶¶ 64 & 93.)  However, the seller for the St. Andrews Property did not select 

HAS Capital as a buyer.  (Id. ¶ 124.) 

After the sellers for the Balmoral Property and the Cypress Point Property accepted HAS 

Capital as the buyer, HAS Capital and the sellers negotiated further and exchanged drafts of 

Purchase-Sale Agreements (PSAs).  (Id. ¶¶ 66-67, 69-70, 74, 76, 96, 99-100, 102-103.) 

However, HAS Capital never executed a PSA with the sellers of either the Balmoral Property or 

the Cypress Point Property. (Id. ¶¶ 74-79, 106.)  On July 27, 2015, the seller for the Balmoral 

Property revoked its offer to sell to HAS Capital.  (Id. ¶ 80.) On August 5, 2015, the seller for the 

Cypress Point Property withdrew its offer to sell to HAS Capital.  (Id. ¶ 107.) 
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On July 29, 2015, Plaintiffs called Decator to ask what happened with the deals.  (Id. ¶¶ 

125-126.)  According to Plaintiffs, Decator told Plaintiffs that there was no money available 

because “of the Chinese stock market crash.”  (Id.) Decator also allegedly stated that the 

“Sovereign Fund” was not a fund from the Mideast, and that it was “not involved” in the funding 

of the three real estate deals. (Id. ¶ 128.) HAS Capital told Plaintiffs that there was no “Sovereign 

Fund” and that it was “trying to find an investor.”  (Id. ¶ 129.)  Plaintiffs also allege they 

demanded payment of $96,778.79 in “costs” that HAS Capital refused to pay.  (Id. ¶¶ 217-219.)   

III.  ARGUMENT 

A.  Motion to Dismiss Legal Standards  

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) permits the filing of a motion to dismiss a 

complaint for “failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555-56 (2007); Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).  The two 

key points are that (1) legal conclusions couched as factual allegations need not be taken as true, 

and (2) the well-pleaded factual allegations, viewed as true, must establish that the plaintiffs 

claim is plausible. Id.; see also Brooks v. Ross, 578 F.3d 574, 580-82 (7th Cir. 2009). Not all 

factual allegations suffice.  “A pleading that offers ‘labels and conclusions’ or ‘a formulaic 

recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do.’” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citations 

omitted).  “Nor does a complaint suffice if it tenders ‘naked assertion[s]’ devoid of ‘further 

factual enhancement.’” Id.  Rather, a complaint must contain sufficient facts to state a claim that 

is “plausible on its face.” Id.  A claim is “plausible” when facts are pled that “allows the court to 

draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Id.  The 

plausibility standard requires “more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted 

unlawfully.” Id.  Where an allegation is just as consistent with innocent action, it does not meet 

the plausibility requirement. Id. at 679. 
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B.  Count I Fails to State a RICO Claim  

 Count I alleges Defendants engaged in activity that violated the Racketeering Influenced 

and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et. seq.  To state a federal civil RICO 

claim, Plaintiffs must allege: (1) conduct; (2) of an enterprise; (3) through a pattern; (4) of 

racketeering activity.  Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 496 (1985).  The 

“circumstances constituting fraud” must be pled with particularity under Rule 9(b). Evan Law 

Grp. LLC v. Taylor, No. 09 C 4896, 2010 WL 5135904, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 9, 2010).  

Plaintiffs’ RICO claim fails for several reasons discussed below. 

1. No RICO “Enterprise” 

Plaintiffs failed to allege that a RICO enterprise existed between Defendants.  To state a 

RICO claim, Plaintiffs “must identify an ‘enterprise.’”  UFCW v. Walgreen Co., 719 F.3d 849, 

855-56 (7th Cir. 2013).  A RICO “enterprise” is interpreted broadly, but it requires “a purpose, 

relationships among those associated with the enterprise, and longevity sufficient to permit these 

associates to pursue the enterprise’s purpose.”  Boyle v. U.S., 556 U.S. 938, 946 (2009).  Despite 

the expansive nature of the definition of an enterprise, it is not limitless, and ordinary 

commercial relationships will not suffice. UFCW, 719 F.3d at 855-56; Crichton v. Golden Rule 

Ins. Co., 576 F.3d 392, 400 (7th Cir. 2009). A RICO claim must allege facts to demonstrate an 

association with a structure and goals separate from the predicate acts themselves. Id.; Panwar v. 

Access Therapies, Inc., 975 F. Supp. 2d 948, 957 (S.D. Ind. 2013). 

Here, the Complaint does not identify or allege in any detail the existence of an 

“enterprise.”  Plaintiffs also do not allege that Defendants participated in an “enterprise” with a 

separate purpose apart from working on the three potential real estate deals identified in the 

Complaint.  At most, Plaintiffs’ allegations establish that Defendants had garden-variety 

commercial relationships. They do not state, suggest, or establish that Defendants joined together 
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to create a distinct entity for unlawful purposes as required to allege an “enterprise.”  See 

Richmond v. Nationwide Cassel, 52 F.3d 640, 644 (7th Cir. 1995) (RICO enterprise “is more 

than just a group of people who get together to commit a pattern of racketeering activity.”); 

Latimer v. Hall Fin. Grp., Inc., No. 90 C 0156, 1990 WL 133225, at *10 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 13, 

1990) (an enterprise is “something more than a conspiracy.”) (citations omitted).   

Instead, Plaintiffs allege legally insufficient “labels” and “conclusions” to describe 

Defendants’ activity as an “enterprise.”  (Ex. 1, ¶¶ 139-140.)  The Complaint is devoid of 

allegations to demonstrate that Defendants purportedly acted with some common goal or 

purpose, an “essential ingredient” of an “enterprise.”  Guaranteed Rate, Inc. v. Barr, 912 F. Supp. 

2d 671, 687 (N.D. Ill. 2012). The Complaint contains no allegations to establish that Defendants 

had any interest in the outcome of the alleged scheme beyond their own individual business 

interests.  Id.  Although Plaintiffs say that Defendants collaborated with the purpose to mislead, 

there are no allegations that another common purpose existed apart from Defendants’ individual 

business interests.  For example, there is no indication in the Complaint that the Defendants 

shared in the profits of the alleged “enterprise” as opposed to earning their own respective profits 

from their respective business activity.  See Oberoi v. Mehta, No. 10 C 7275, 2011 WL 1337107, 

at *4 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 6, 2011) (no enterprise where defendants did not share in enterprise profits).  

The Complaint does not allege how any defendant benefitted at all from proposing or negotiating 

transactions that, allegedly, they could not close. 

2. No RICO “Conduct” of an Alleged Enterprise 
 
 Plaintiffs also failed to allege that Defendants conducted the affairs of the alleged 

enterprise, as required by 18 U.S.C. 1962(c).  Specifically, Plaintiffs must plead that Defendants 

“participate[d] in the operation or management of the enterprise itself.”  Reves v. Ernst & 

Young, 507 U.S. 170, 172 (1993); Goren v. New Vision Int’l., 156 F.3d 721, 728 (7th Cir. 1998).   
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 Here, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants had business relationships, but they do not 

establish that Defendants took part in the operation or management of an “enterprise.”  Simply 

performing services for an enterprise, even with knowledge of the enterprise’s illicit nature, is 

not enough to establish RICO liability.  Goren, 156 F.3d at 728.  The same is true for the 

“[s]imple exertion of control over one aspect” of an alleged enterprise’s activities. Slaney v. Int’l 

Amateur Athletic Fed’n, 244 F.3d 580, 598 (7th Cir. 2001).  

3. No “Pattern of Racketeering Activity” 

 Plaintiffs failed to allege a “pattern” of racketeering activity.  To establish a pattern of 

racketeering activity, Plaintiffs must allege facts to show continued criminal activity or the threat 

thereof, including a relationship between the predicate acts, commonly referred to as the 

“continuity plus relationship” test. Evan Law Grp. LLC v. Taylor, No. 09 C 4896, 2010 WL 

5135904, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 9, 2010) (citations omitted); Empress Casino Joliet Corp. v. 

Balmoral Racing Club, Inc., 831 F.3d 815 (7th Cir. 2016).  Here, to establish a pattern of 

racketeering activity, Plaintiffs must rely on “an open-ended series of conduct that, while short-

lived, shows clear signs of threatening to continue into the future.” Taylor, 2010 WL 5135904 at 

*4.  Plaintiffs can demonstrate open-ended continuity by showing: (1) “a specific threat of 

repetition” exists; (2) “the predicates are a regular way of conducting an ongoing legitimate 

business,” or (3) “the predicates can be attributed to a defendant operating as part of a long-term 

association that exists for criminal purposes.’”  Id. 

 Here, Plaintiffs—two related entities—are the only alleged victims of Defendants’ 

purported activity. While Plaintiffs allege multiple misrepresentations, there is one key alleged 

wrongful act, namely Defendants alleged misrepresentation about HAS Capital’s alleged 

investor and the ability to close the three real estate deals identified in the Complaint.  Although 

Plaintiffs dress up their allegations as a pattern of conduct, Plaintiffs only alleged a single, 
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relatively narrow set of facts.  Once the offers for the properties were withdrawn, the alleged 

scheme was over.  Empress Casino Joliet Corp, supra.  There is no allegation in the Complaint to 

state, suggest or establish that Defendants would engage in similar future conduct.   

 As a result, and under established federal law, Plaintiffs’ allegations do not establish a 

pattern of racketeering activity.  See Roger Whitmore’s Auto v. Lake Cty., 424 F.3d 659, 674 

(7th Cir. 2005) (no pattern where plaintiff pled single scheme over two years with “a dozen or 

so” victims); Triad Associates  v. CHA, 892 F.2d 583, 595 (7th Cir. 1989) (no pattern for single 

scheme lasting 27 months, two transactions and affecting only one victim); Shepard v. Lustig, 

912 F. Supp. 2d 698, 707 (N.D. Ill. 2012) (single scheme lasting 20 months, targeting seven 

victims and causing the same single type of injury insufficient to establish pattern); Triumph 

Packaging v. Ward, No. 11 C 7927, 2014 WL 949011, a *5-6 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 11, 2014) (no 

pattern for alleged scheme lasting 22 months); Draper v. Pickus, No. 04 C 8150, 2005 WL 

1564983, at *6 (N.D. Ill. June 29, 2005) (no pattern where “the partnership at issue has ceased to 

exist” and plaintiff did not allege “any future threat of repetition.”). 

4. No Concrete Damage or Injury 

 Plaintiffs failed to allege that they suffered any actual injury.  Proving actual injury is a 

standing requirement for RICO claims. 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); Evans v. City of Chicago, 434 F.3d 

916, 924 (7th Cir. 2006); Vazquez v. Cent. States Joint Bd., 547 F. Supp. 2d 833, 856 (N.D. Ill. 

2008).  To confer standing, Plaintiffs’ alleged injuries must be “‘concrete and actual,’ as opposed 

to ‘speculative and amorphous.’”  Evans, 434 F.3d at 932; Vazquez, 547 F. Supp. 2d at 860-61.  

Here, the alleged actual damage Plaintiffs claim they suffered is the compensation and costs they 

say they would have received if the real estate deals identified in the Complaint had been 

consummated.  However, this is insufficient, because Plaintiffs’ alleged right to compensation 

and costs was neither mandatory nor certain.  See Triumph Packaging, 877 F. Supp. at 641 
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(dismissing RICO claim because right to bonus was not mandatory or certain).  Plaintiffs’ 

claimed lost “good will” and expectancy damages for fees they could have earned had the deals 

closed are the very type of speculative and amorphous injuries that are insufficient to confer 

standing under RICO. 

C.  Counts II-V and VIII-XII Fail to State Misrepresentation Claims 

 In Counts II-V and VIII-XII, Plaintiffs allege state law misrepresentation claims against 

HAS Capital, Wheeler, Decator and Decator LLC based on alleged misrepresentations made to 

Plaintiffs and the sellers of the three properties identified in the Complaint regarding HAS 

Capital’s investor and their ability to close real estate deals. As will be shown below, Plaintiffs’ 

misrepresentation claims fail for several reasons. 

1. The Fraudulent Misrepresentation Claims Fail 

In Counts II-V, Plaintiffs allege fraudulent misrepresentation claims.  To state the claim, 

Plaintiffs must allege: (1) a false statement of material fact; (2) by one who knows or believes it 

to be false; (3) made with the intent to induce action by another in reliance on the statement; (4) 

action by the other in reliance on the truthfulness of the statement; and (5) injury to the other 

resulting from that reliance.  Wigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, 673 F.3d 547, 569 (7th Cir. 2012).  

a.  Conclusory Allegations 

 Plaintiffs failed to allege sufficiently that Defendants made misrepresentations to 

Plaintiffs.  For example, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants misrepresented to Plaintiffs facts about 

HAS Capital’s investor and ability to close real estate deals before the alleged Agreement was 

signed.  (Ex. 1, ¶¶ 39, 42, 44.)  However, Plaintiffs allege no facts to establish the conclusion that 

Defendants’ alleged statements were, in fact, false at the time they were made.  Instead, Plaintiffs 

alleged only the ultimate legal conclusion of misrepresentation.  Plaintiffs simply conclude that, 

because there was no funding at the time the sellers sent the final PSAs, the prior statements 
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Defendants allegedly made about their ability to close real estate deals must have been false.  

These conclusory allegations fail to state a misrepresentation claim with the particularity 

required under Rule 9(b). 

 Plaintiffs also allege Defendants made false statements to the sellers of the properties 

identified in the complaint about HAS Capital’s investor and ability to close real estate deals. 

(Ex.1, ¶¶ 53, 85, 103.)  However, for the same reasons stated above, Plaintiffs alleged no facts to 

establish that these statements were false.  Regardless, Plaintiffs have no legal standing to assert 

misrepresentation claims made to third parties.  People ex rel. Broadview, Ill. V. Village of N. 

Riverside, No. 05 C 4737, 2006 WL 1156549, at *5 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 26, 2006) (no claim where 

misrepresentations made to third party, even though action affected plaintiff).   

b. Implausible Claims 

 Plaintiffs’ misrepresentation claims are implausible and fail to state legally sufficient 

causes of action.  To begin, the Complaint’s allegations establish only that Defendants were 

acting in accord with their contract rights.  Under Illinois law, fraud cannot attach where, as here, 

a party merely acts in accord with its contractual rights. See Northern Trust Co. v. VIII South 

Mich. Assocs., 276 Ill. App. 3d. 355, 366 (1st Dist. 1995) (“A party cannot close his eyes to the 

contents of a document and then claim that the other party committed fraud merely because it 

followed th[e] contract”). The alleged Agreement between the parties did not require HAS 

Capital to close any particular real estate deals (see Ex. 1, Ex. A), so Plaintiffs had every reason 

to expect that any deals they worked on, including the three real estate deals identified in the 

Complaint, might not close, even after Plaintiffs did the work.  

 

  

Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 11 of 16 PageID #:122



 
 

11 

 Plaintiffs’ misrepresentation claims are also implausible and fail to state 

misrepresentation claims because there can be no misrepresentation claim based on any alleged 

promise to close real estate deals in the future. See Jada Joys, Inc. v. Chicago Import, Inc., No. 

07 C 699, 2008 WL 1722140, * 1 (N.D. Ill. April 10, 2008) (misrepresenting an intention to 

perform future conduct, even if made without a present intention to perform, not fraud); ABM 

Engineering Servs. v. Thompson, No. 05 C 7090, 2006 WL 1517776, * 3 (N.D. Ill. May 24, 

2006) (dismissing fraud claim based on misrepresentation of intent to perform future conduct). 

 Plaintiffs’ misrepresentation claims are also implausible and fail to state 

misrepresentation claims because Plaintiffs cannot establish reasonable reliance on the alleged 

misrepresentations. Plaintiffs must show that their reliance on the alleged misrepresentation was 

reasonable and justified.  Siegel Dev., LLC v. Peak Const. LLC, 2013 IL App (1st) 111973, ¶¶ 

113-14 (citations omitted).  Generally, the question of reasonable reliance is a question of fact; 

however, where only one conclusion can be drawn from the undisputed facts, the question is one 

for the court to determine.  Id. In determining whether reliance was justifiable, “all of the facts 

which the plaintiff knew, as well as those facts the plaintiff could have learned through the 

exercise of ordinary prudence, are taken into account.”  Id. Parties may not enter into a 

transaction with “eyes closed to available information” and then charge that they were “deceived 

by another.”  Id.  Only where the alleged representation “contains nothing so improbable as to 

cause doubt of its truth, the hearer may rely upon it without investigation . . . .” Id. 

 Here, the only conclusion that can be drawn from the Complaint’s allegations is that 

Plaintiffs’ alleged reliance on the statements Defendants purportedly made was unreasonable and 

unjustified.  For example, Plaintiffs say they relied on Defendants’ representations regarding 

HAS Capital’s ability to close cash real estate deals between $30,000,000 and $100,000,000 with 

“unlimited dollars to invest.”  These alleged statements are sufficiently “improbable” to require 
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investigation before it would be reasonable to rely upon them.  This is especially true given 

Plaintiffs’ claim that they are experienced in the businesses of assisting third-parties in acquiring 

real estate.  (Ex. 1, ¶¶ 2, 34, 141.)  Plaintiffs did not allege they conducted any investigation into 

Defendants’ alleged statements.  Instead, Plaintiffs admit they entered the transactions with their 

“eyes closed to available information.” Under these circumstances, Plaintiffs cannot allege that 

they reasonably relied upon, and were deceived by, the Defendants’ alleged statements. 

2. The Negligent Misrepresentation Claims Fail 

In Counts VIII-XII, Plaintiffs allege negligent misrepresentation claims.  The elements 

for negligent misrepresentation are the same as fraudulent misrepresentation, except that the 

mental state is different—the defendant need not know that the statement is false; rather, 

“carelessness or negligence in ascertaining the truth” will suffice.  Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. 

Henry Bros. Const., 877 F. Supp. 2d 614, 618-19 (N.D. Ill. 2012) (citations omitted).  Plaintiffs’ 

negligent misrepresentation claims are legally insufficient for the same reasons Plaintiffs’ 

fraudulent misrepresentations are legally insufficient.  

Plaintiffs’ negligent misrepresentation claims are also legally insufficient because they 

are barred under state law.  Under Illinois law, claims seeking purely economic damages based 

on negligent misrepresentations generally are barred under the Moorman doctrine.  Hartford Fire 

Ins. Co., 877 F. Supp. 2d at 618-19.  The exception to this rule is if the defendant “is in the 

business of supplying information for the guidance of others in their business transactions.” Id. 

That is not the case as to any defendant here because “the end product” of the parties’ 

relationship is “a tangible object.”  Id.  (describing standard).   
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Specifically, the intended end result of the alleged relationship between Plaintiffs and 

Defendants was a tangible thing, e.g., the acquisition and management of multi-family rental 

properties. The end product was not “information” Defendants provided; it was a tangible thing, 

i.e., “acquiring multifamily properties.”  Defendants were not in the business of providing 

information, as the case law defines that legal construct; rather, and as the Complaint alleges, 

Defendants were in the business of sourcing and managing third-party equity and investing third-

party equity in real estate assets.  (Ex. 1, ¶ 9.)  Because Defendants were not in the “business of 

supplying information,” as that term is defined under Illinois case law, Plaintiffs’ negligent 

misrepresentation claims fail.  

D. Count XV Fails to State a Breach of Contract Claim 

 In Count XV, Plaintiffs allege a state law breach of contract claim against HAS Capital.  

To state the claim, Plaintiffs must allege: (1) the existence of a contract; (2) the performance of 

its conditions by Plaintiffs; (3) the breach by HAS Capital; and (4) damages as a result of the 

breach.  Kopley Grp. v. Sheridan Edgewater Properties, Ltd., 376 Ill. App. 3d 1006 (1st Dist. 

2007).  Plaintiffs’ breach of contract claim seeks alleged compensation due and costs that 

Plaintiffs allegedly incurred in performing under the Agreement. (Ex. 1, ¶¶ 217, 223).  As shown 

below, Plaintiffs’ breach of contract claim fails for at least two reasons. 

 First, Plaintiffs fail to allege that an enforceable contract requires Defendants to pay to 

Plaintiffs compensation or costs.  As to compensation, the Agreement states that any 

compensation would be determined on a “property-by-property” basis.  (Ex. 1, Ex. A.)  There is 

no allegation that any specific compensation was ever agreed between the parties and, 

specifically, compensation relating to the three properties identified in the Complaint.  

Defendants unilaterally attached a “Memorandum” to the Agreement that describes what 

Plaintiffs contend was discussed between the parties regarding the “basic economics,” but 
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Plaintiffs do not allege that Defendants ever agreed to those terms or that those terms applied to 

the three real estate deals identified in the Complaint.  Indeed, the language of the Memorandum 

shows that it was not, and was not intended to be, an enforceable agreement.  (Id. (“These are the 

recollections from my notes of the meeting. . . . Please provide any comments you have . . .”).)  

As to costs, the Agreement states that Defendants will be responsible for paying third-party 

costs. (Ex. 1, [Ex. A ¶ 9].)   Id. The Agreement does not require Defendants to pay costs to 

Plaintiffs or to pay the costs Plaintiffs incurred.  (Id.) 

 Even assuming arguendo Plaintiffs alleged the existence of an enforceable contract 

between the parties, Plaintiffs failed to allege the contract was breached. The Agreement is clear 

that Defendants are required to pay Plaintiffs “on a property-by-property” basis if, and only 

when, any deal is consummated. (Ex. 1, Ex. A, p. 1.)   Nothing in the Agreement requires 

Defendants to pay Plaintiffs anything with respect to a deal that does not close, which is what 

exactly what Plaintiffs allege happened here.  As a result, there is no alleged contract breach. 

E. Count XVI Fails to State a Claim for Quantum Meruit 

 In Count XVI, Plaintiffs allege a state law claim for quantum meruit.  Plaintiffs’ claim 

requires a showing “that valuable services or materials were furnished by the plaintiff [and] 

received by the defendant, under circumstances which would make it unjust for the defendant to 

retain the benefit without paying.”  Spitz v. Proven Winners, 969 F. Supp. 2d 994, 1007–08 

(N.D. Ill. 2013) (citations omitted).  “Notably, even when a person has received a benefit from 

another, he is liable for payment ‘only if the circumstances of its receipt or retention are such 

that, as between the two persons, it is unjust for him to retain it. The mere fact that a person 

benefits another is not of itself sufficient to require the other to make restitution therefor.’”  Id. 
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 Here, Plaintiffs failed to allege any facts to support the conclusion that it would be unjust 

for Defendants to retain whatever benefits Plaintiffs say they provided.  The Complaint contains 

no allegations that Defendants made any use of any alleged benefit Plaintiffs claim they provided 

to Defendants.  First Nat. Bank of Springfield v. Malpractice Research, Inc., 179 Ill. 2d 353, 366 

(1997) (no quantum meruit claim where defendant did not make use of plaintiff’s efforts and 

plaintiff failed to show that its activities conferred any benefit on defendants).  Plaintiffs did not 

allege that HAS Capital bought any of the three properties identified in the Complaint without 

paying for Plaintiffs’ alleged efforts.  Nor did Plaintiffs allege that HAS Capital bought other 

properties using the alleged benefits Plaintiffs say they provided.  As a result, Plaintiffs failed to 

establish unjust circumstances sufficient to support their quantum meruit claim. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion to dismiss should be granted in its 

entirety, Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed, and Defendants should be granted such other 

and further relief as is appropriate.  

      Respectfully submitted, 
       
      KULWIN, MASCIOPINTO & KULWIN, L.L.P.  
        
      By: /s/ Jeffrey R. Kulwin 
          
Shelly B. Kulwin 
Jeffrey R. Kulwin 
Julie D. Yeagle 
KULWIN, MASCIOPINTO & KULWIN, L.L.P. 
161 North Clark Street, Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
312-641-0300 

Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 16 of 16 PageID #:127



 
 

Exhibit #1 

Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 1 of 53 PageID #:128



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 2 of 53 PageID #:129



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 3 of 53 PageID #:130



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 4 of 53 PageID #:131



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 5 of 53 PageID #:132



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 6 of 53 PageID #:133



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 7 of 53 PageID #:134



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 8 of 53 PageID #:135



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 9 of 53 PageID #:136



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 10 of 53 PageID #:137



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 11 of 53 PageID #:138



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 12 of 53 PageID #:139



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 13 of 53 PageID #:140



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 14 of 53 PageID #:141



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 15 of 53 PageID #:142



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 16 of 53 PageID #:143



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 17 of 53 PageID #:144



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 18 of 53 PageID #:145



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 19 of 53 PageID #:146



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 20 of 53 PageID #:147



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 21 of 53 PageID #:148



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 22 of 53 PageID #:149



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 23 of 53 PageID #:150



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 24 of 53 PageID #:151



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 25 of 53 PageID #:152



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 26 of 53 PageID #:153



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 27 of 53 PageID #:154



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 28 of 53 PageID #:155



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 29 of 53 PageID #:156



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 30 of 53 PageID #:157



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 31 of 53 PageID #:158



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 32 of 53 PageID #:159



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 33 of 53 PageID #:160



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 34 of 53 PageID #:161



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 35 of 53 PageID #:162



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 36 of 53 PageID #:163



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 37 of 53 PageID #:164



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 38 of 53 PageID #:165



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 39 of 53 PageID #:166



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 40 of 53 PageID #:167



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 41 of 53 PageID #:168



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 42 of 53 PageID #:169



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 43 of 53 PageID #:170



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 44 of 53 PageID #:171



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 45 of 53 PageID #:172



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 46 of 53 PageID #:173



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 47 of 53 PageID #:174



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 48 of 53 PageID #:175



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 49 of 53 PageID #:176



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 50 of 53 PageID #:177



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 51 of 53 PageID #:178



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 52 of 53 PageID #:179



Case: 1:16-cv-08251 Document #: 24-1 Filed: 10/17/16 Page 53 of 53 PageID #:180


	C.  Counts II-V and VIII-XII Fail to State Misrepresentation Claims
	D. Count XV Fails to State a Breach of Contract Claim
	E. Count XVI Fails to State a Claim for Quantum Meruit
	CONCLUSION



